FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/2/2020 3:39 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

98721-1

No. 367355

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LEANNE LEVNO,

Petitioner,

v.

ADDUS HEALTHCARE, INC.,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

William R. Kincaid, WSBA # 54027 William C. Schroeder, WSBA # 41986 KSB LITIGATION, P.S. 221 N. Wall St., Ste 210 Spokane, Washington, 99201 (509) 624-8988 <u>bkincaid@KSBLit.legal</u> Attorneys for Petitioner

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether The Court Of Appeals' Determination, That Levno's Deposition And Declaration Testimony She Was Orally Fired Were Insufficient To Establish A Question Of Fact, Is Contrary To This Court's Established Precedent (e.g. Rose v. Anderson Hay and Grain Co.) That Neither The Trial Court Nor The Appellate Court On De Novo Review May Evaluate The Non-Moving Party's Evidence Or Weigh Her Credibility In Adjudicating A Summary Judgment Motion?

In a wrongful termination case, the facts surrounding the termination are construed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party; the terminated employee's factual allegation that she was orally terminated must be accepted as true for purposes of adjudicating the motion. *Rose v. Anderson Hay and Grain Co.*, 184 Wn.2d 268, 286, 358 P.3d 1139 (2015). Contrary to this precedent,

The majority writes that Leanne Levno stripped her use of the word "termination" from any probative, factual value. Majority at 9. No summary judgment principle allows a court to ignore the testimony of a declarant, even a party declarant, because the declarant misuses or confuses the meaning of a word. The court impermissibly weighs the credibility of the witness when discounting testimony because of the witness' misuse of words. Levno unequivocally testified that Dawn Taylor told her she was "being terminated from—from Addus." CP at 83, 351. The reader should not be confused by concluding, based on this deposition passage, that Levno only testified that Addus Healthcare removed her from the care of a client. Regardless, in her declaration, Leanne Levno employed the word "fired," when testifying to the action of Addus Healthcare toward her.

Dissent at 14.

Presented for review is whether the Court of Appeals' determination, that Levno's deposition and declaration testimony that she was orally fired were insufficient to establish a question of fact, is contrary to this Court's established precedent that neither the trial court nor the appellate court on *de novo* review may evaluate the non-moving party's evidence or weigh her credibility in adjudicating a summary judgment motion?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Dissent summarizes the facts pertinent to the issue presented in this Petition, of whether the Court of Appeals evaluated evidence and weighed credibility in its *de novo* review of the trial court's summary

dismissal of Levno's common law and statutory wrongful discharge claims. See Dissent at pp. 1-8.

Attached as part of the Appendix to this Petition are pages CP 12-13, 82-83, 287-89, 348, and 350-52 of the record. See Dissent at 12, 14. The below narrative sets forth the pertinent facts, along with citation to the record for ease of review.

1. Levno Worked for Addus, Providing Care to Vulnerable Adults.

Beginning in 2007, Levno worked as a home health caregiver for Respondent Addus Healthcare, Inc. ("Addus") for eight years in Spokane, Washington. (CP at 10) Levno provided care for vulnerable adults who suffered from physical and/or mental illnesses. (CP at 10, 19, and 56) Levno was a mandatory reporter to the Department of Social and Health Services ("DSHS") if a reasonable belief of abuse or neglect existed. RCW 74.34.020(14), RCW 74.34.035(1).

From 2007 until 2012, Levno provided care for several patients, one of whom, "L.J.D", was a critical care patient who required constant specialized care. (CP at 26, 293, 327, 331) From 2012 until 2016 Levno was exclusively assigned to L.J.D., and was L.J.D.'s weekday caregiver; another Addus employee was L.J.D.'s weekend caregiver (CP at 57-58, 288, and 409)

2. In 2015, Levno Made A Report to Adult Protective Services, and Was Threatened with Reprisal by Addus.

Beginning in 2012, Levno shared her concerns with Addus that L.J.D. was receiving insufficient care and being left without care on the weekends. (CP at 59–62, 287, and 335) However, Addus failed to take corrective action or otherwise resolve the patient care issues identified by Levno. (CP at 332-335)

In February 2015, Levno reported Addus to APS for leaving L.J.D. without care on multiple occasions. (CP at 10, 64 – 65, 164, and 338) Levno's supervisor, "Mike", informed her that she "was no longer to report any further abuse without contacting him first[]", or else, she "would be fired." (CP at 10, 95, 331-333, and 338) Shortly after Levno's APS report, an Addus employee reported Levno to APS. (CP at 10, 75-76) APS investigated, and on May 14, 2015, APS investigator Aime Kuhn determined that the allegation against Levno was unsubstantiated. (CP at 10, 98)

3. On November 5, 2015 Levno Received a Perfect Performance Evaluation from Her Addus Supervisor.

On November 6, 2015, Addus employee Eldon House issued Levno a performance evaluation and assigned her a top rating of "excellent" in every category and commented in writing "[a]bove and beyond. Great

quality care." (CP at 338) In July 2016, Levno became a delegated nurse for L.J.D.'s care. (CP at 346)

4. On August 29, 2016, Levno Made A Second Report of Abuse to APS.

On August 27, 2016, Levno again believed that L.J.D. had been abused. (CP at 10, 339, 341) On August 29, 2016, Levno reported Addus to APS. (CP at 10; 339) The following day, on August 30, 2016, Levno submitted her prior day APS report to Addus. (CP at 339)

Two days later, on September 1, 2016, APS Investigator Lindsey Parker met with Levno at L.J.D.'s residence to investigate suspected abuse of L.J.D. (CP at 342) Ms. Parker took photographs of L.J.D.'s circumstances and Levno provided Ms. Parker with evidence of abuse that Levno had "stashed away." (Id.) Levno also informed Ms. Parker of an incident that had occurred over the Fourth of July weekend which Levno had previously reported to Addus supervisor "Alice." (Id.)

That same day, September 1, 2016, about an hour after Levno left L.J.D.'s residence, Dawn Taylor called Levno to inform her she was subject to a disciplinary review, and that she could not return to work unless and until she attended the disciplinary review. (CP at 342, 349) The disciplinary warning notice issued to Levno lists the violation as September 2, 2016. (CP at 47)

The next day, September 2, 2016, Addus terminated Levno's care of L.J.D. (CP at 31, 340-41) On September 2, 2016, Addus also discharged L.J.D. as a patient, providing her notice by mail that her care would be discontinued immediately because "we will no longer be able to send Leanne Levno to care for you." (CP at 413) Addus scheduled Levno's disciplinary review for September 8, 2016. (CP at 348)

5. Addus Fired Levno At The September 8, 2016 Disciplinary Review.

On September 8, 2016, Dawn Taylor and two other Addus supervisors accused Levno of crossing professional boundaries in her care of L.J.D. (CP at 346) They presented Levno with a document entitled "DISCIPLINARY WARNING NOTICE AND ACTION TAKEN." (CP at 47, 346) The boxes for "written warning", "insubordination" and "Disregard of Known Rule" were checked. (CP at 47) The document was dated September 7, 2016, the day before the meeting. (Id.) The handwritten portion of the document provides:

Not following the plan of care for client, not reporting client changes in condition and client needs to the supervisor. Having other HCA Report to her instead of supervisor if they have questions or concerns about client crossing professional boundaries, providing care for people other than the client. Performing nursing tasks without delegation.

(CP at 47)

When asked to endorse the document, Levno refused, and instead wrote "I don't agree – I refuse to sign." (CP at 47, 346) Levno testified that Dawn Taylor told Levno she "was being terminated from [] Addus" and fired Levno. (CP at 349-350, 417)

Following the September 8, 2016 meeting, Addus never reached out to Levno, or offered her renewed employment. (CP at 288, 349) L.J.D., who required specialized care, which Levno had provided since 2007, passed away two months later on October 30, 2016. (CP at 409)

6. Proceedings Below.

Levno filed suit on August 11, 2017, and amended her complaint the following month, alleging wrongful termination in violation of public policy, retaliatory discharge, and violation of the Washington Wage Payment Act. (CP at 1-8, 9-17)

Addus deposed Levno on March 29, 2018. "Q: You never received a termination letter from Addus? A: No. But it was all right in here that – and during the meeting, Dawn told me I was being terminated from – from Addus." (CP at 351)

Q. [] Isn't it true that during your meeting with your supervisor, you were specifically told that you were not being terminated.

A. No.

MR. BEST: Objection; form.

A. You want to repeat that.

Q. (By Mr. Arceneaux) Isn't it true that you were told you were not being terminated?

A. I was –

Q. Excuse me. That you were told that you were not being terminated?

A. I was told that I was being terminated.

(CP at 349-350)

On December 20, 2018 Addus sought summary dismissal, disputing it had terminated Levno. (CP at 34-36; 50-286; 310-375) Opposing the motion, Levno submitted a declaration in which she testified: "they fired me" and "Addus ended my employment." (CP at 287-88)

The trial court granted Addus' dismissal motion, on the basis that Levno's deposition and declaration testimony were "self-serving", and thus Levno failed to demonstrate any evidence that she was terminated. (CP at 376-77)

Levno moved for reconsideration and filed a second declaration emphasizing that "[o]n September 8, 2016, Addus orally terminated me during my (alleged) misconduct hearing." (CP at 408) Addus responded, and Levno replied, followed by the trial court denying the motion. (CP 391-401, 402-07, 416-17) An order dismissing all claims was entered March 29, 2019, and the appeal timely followed. (CP at 418-25; 426-43)

On appeal, Levno referred the court to her deposition testimony, as well as to her declaration testimony in which she testified that she had been orally terminated by Dawn Taylor of Addus at the September 8, 2016

meeting. Rejecting this testimony, the Majority "agree[d] with the trial judge that Ms. Levno's claims of oral termination are too conclusory to overcome summary judgment." Majority at 9. Disagreeing, the Dissent explained:

Levno presented sufficient evidence to allow the trier of fact to resolve whether Addus Healthcare terminated her employment ... [n]o summary judgment principle allows a court to ignore the testimony of a declarant, even a party declarant, because the declarant misuses or confuses the meaning of a word. The court impermissibly weighs the credibility of the witness when discounting testimony because of the witness' misuse of words.

Dissent at 14.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. The Court Of Appeals Decision Is In Conflict With, *Inter Alia, Rose v. Anderson Hay and Grain Co.*, Warranting Review Pursuant To RAP 13.4(b)(1).

The Court of Appeals evaluated deposition and declaration testimony in affirming the trial court's dismissal on summary judgment of Levno's common law and statutory wrongful discharge claims, contrary to precedent concerning *de novo* review of summary judgment orders, as recently expressed by this Court in the context of wrongful termination claims in *Rose v. Anderson Hay and Grain Co.*, 184 Wn.2d 268, 286, 358 P.3d 1139 (2015). See RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Orders granting summary judgment are reviewed *de novo*. *Ehrhart* v. *King Cty.*, 195 Wn.2d 388, 409, 460 P.3d 612 (2020). The court considers all facts in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Id.* "A genuine issue of material fact exists when reasonable minds could differ on the facts controlling the outcome of the litigation." *Id.* A material fact is one upon which the outcome of the litigation depends. *In re Estate of Black*, 153 Wn.2d 152, 160, 102 P.3d 796 (2004). In determining whether a material fact exists, the court analyzes whether "the evidence is sufficient for a reasonable jury to return a verdict for the nonmoving party." *Keck v. Collins*, 184 Wn.2d 358, 370, 357 P.3d 1080 (2015). Only where there is no genuine issue of material fact and reasonable people could reach "but one conclusion" from all of the evidence is summary judgment appropriate. *Black*, 153 Wn.2d at 161.

2. RCW 74.34 Remedies are Liberally Construed and Summary Judgment is Inappropriate Where Facts Surrounding Termination are Disputed.

Caregivers of vulnerable adults are mandatory reporters, and have a duty to report suspected abuse. RCW 74.34.035; RCW 74.34.020(2), (14). Failure to report subjects a caregiver to criminal, (RCW 74.34.053), and civil liability. *Kim v. Lakeside Adult Family Home*, 185 Wn.2d 532, 544, 374 P.3d 121 (2016) ("Governmental authorities must give the prevention, treatment, and punishment of child abuse the highest priority, and all

instances of child abuse must be reported The AVAA is similar to the ACA[.]"). "An employee or contractor who is a whistleblower and who as a result of being a whistleblower has been subjected to workplace reprisal or retaliatory action, has the remedies provided under chapter 49.60 RCW." RCW 74.34.180.

RCW 49.60 remedies are to be liberally construed. RCW 49.60.020; see Jin Zhu v. N. Cent. Educ. Serv. Dist.-ESD 171, 189 Wn.2d 607, 614, 404 P.3d 504 (2017). Because of factual issues concerning retaliatory motive, "[s]ummary judgment for an employer is seldom appropriate." Cornwell v. Microsoft Corp., 192 Wn.2d 403, 410, 430 P.3d 229 (2018); Mikkelsen v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Kittitas Cty., 189 Wn.2d 516, 526, 404 P.3d 464 (2017) (plaintiffs may rely on "circumstantial, indirect, and inferential evidence" because "direct smoking gun evidence ... is rare", and "it will seldom be otherwise.").

3. Whether Levno was Terminated is a Disputed Material Fact, Which Cannot Be Resolved On Summary Judgment.

Addus moved for summary dismissal of Levno's wrongful termination and constructive discharge claims, contending Levno offered "no admissible evidence that Addus terminated her employment[.]" (CP at 32, 35-36) Yet, Levno proffered both direct and circumstantial evidence of express termination. Dissent at 1-8.

In her deposition, Levno testified:

A. ... during the [September 8, 2016] meeting, Dawn told me I was being terminated from – from Addus.

Q. [] Isn't it true that during your meeting with your supervisor, you were specifically told that you were not being terminated.

A. No.

MR. BEST: Objection; form.

A. You want to repeat that.

Q. (By Mr. Arceneaux) Isn't it true that you were told you were not being terminated?

A. I was -

Q. Excuse me. That you were told that you were not being terminated?

A. I was told that I was being terminated.

(CP at 349-50) Levno's declaration states "they fired me" and "Addus ended my employment." (CP at 287-88)

The Declaration of Dawn Taylor states that on September 8, 2016, Taylor did "not inform [Levno] that her employment was being terminated." (CP at 43) Yet Levno's second declaration provides: "[o]n September 8, 2016, Addus orally terminated me during my (alleged) misconduct hearing." (CP at 408)

The circumstantial evidence also creates an inference that Levno was terminated. Levno had previously reported suspected abuse of L.J.D. to Addus as well as to APS in 2015. (CP at 335-36) In late 2015 Levno received a perfect performance review. (CP at 338) On August 29, 2016 Levno reported Addus to APS a second time and informed Addus of the

report the next day. (CP at 339-40) On September 1, 2016, Levno met with the APS investigator at L.J.D.'s residence and provided evidence of abuse. (CP at 342) That same day Dawn Taylor informed Levno that L.J.D was no longer her patient and that Levno could not work for Addus again until Levno came in for a "meeting" on September 8, 2016. (CP at 340, 347) On September 7, 2016 Addus drafted a "DISCIPLINARY WARNING NOTICE AND ACTION TAKEN" document accusing Levno of insubordination and misconduct. (CP at 47) The next day Dawn Taylor and two other Addus supervisors met with Levno and accused of misconduct and asked her to endorse the warning notice. Levno refused and wrote on the notice "I don't agree – I refuse to sign." (CP at 47, 346)

It is the province of the jury whether to believe Levno that Dawn Taylor orally terminated her on September 8, 2016, or to believe Dawn Taylor that she did not orally terminate Levno. A genuine dispute of material fact exists whether Levno was terminated, and the court of appeals erred in affirming summary judgment.

4. The Court Erred by Weighing the Credibility of Levno's Evidence.

When considering a motion for summary judgment, the court is precluded from weighing the credibility of evidence. *Strauss v. Premera Blue Cross*, 194 Wn.2d 296, 303, 449 P.3d 640 (2019) ("a weighing of conflicting evidence ... is inappropriate at the summary judgment stage);

Jones v. State, Dept. of Health, 170 Wn.2d 338, n. 7, 242 P.3d 825 (2010) ("the rule is settled that '[t]he court does not weigh credibility in deciding a motion for summary judgment."").

In a case that rests on the "credibility of the parties who make conflicting statements of fact, 'summary judgment is inappropriate and "[d]eterminations of matters of credibility are [reserved] for the trier of fact." *Malnar v. Carlson,* 128 Wn.2d 521, 536, 910 P.2d 455 (1996); *Grove v. PeaceHealth St. Joseph Hosp.*, 182 Wn.2d 136, 147, 341 P.3d 261 (2014) ("Assessing the credibility of that testimony and what weight to give it were for the jury to decide."). When conflicting evidence is proffered on an essential element of the non-movant's claim, summary judgment is inappropriate. *Strauss*, 194 Wn.2d at 304.

Here, Levno and Addus proffered conflicting evidence concerning the oral termination of Levno's employment on September 8, 2016. (Compare CP 349-50 with CP at 43) The Court of Appeals erred in holding otherwise, contrary to precedent set forth in, *inter alia*, *Rose*, *supra*.

///

///

///

///

///

F. CONCLUSION

Levno asks that the Court accept her Petition for Review of the decision of Division III of the Court of Appeals, No. 36735-5-III.