FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/31/2020 1:18 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 98721-1 Court of Appeals No. 36735-5-III

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LEANNE LEVNO,

Petitioner,

v.

ADDUS HEALTHCARE, INC.,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Michael A. Griffin, WSBA #29103 Daniel P. Crowner, WSBA #37136 Jackson Lewis P.C. 520 Pike Street, Suite 2300 Seattle, WA 98101 206-405-0404 Attorneys for Respondent

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

III. ARGUMENT

In her Amended Complaint, Levno claimed that she "was terminated in retaliation of her reporting the abuse/neglect of her client in violation of RCW 74.34. *et seq.*" CP at 13 (¶ 3.10). In response to the summary judgment motion, however, Levno failed to provide sufficient facts to make a *prima facie* case that Addus terminated her. CP at 381. The Court of Appeals—like the trial court before it—correctly determined that no reasonable finder of fact could conclude that Addus illegally terminated Levno.

A. The Court of Appeals Decision Does Not Conflict With This Court's Decision in Rose v. Anderson Hay & Grain Company

In *Rose v. Anderson Hay & Grain Company*, 184 Wn.2d 268, 286, 358 P.3d 1139 (2015), this Court simply repeated the well-known rule that "summary judgment is proper if there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law" and that courts "consider all the facts in the light most favorable to … the nonmoving party."

But it also is a well-known rule that the nonmoving party may not simply rely on bare allegations to carry her to trial. *Reed v. Streib*, 65 Wn.2d 700, 706-07, 399 P.2d 338 (1965). "The purpose of the summary judgment rule is to permit the court to pierce such formal allegations of facts in pleadings when it appears that there are no genuine issues." *Reed*, 65 Wn.2d at 707; *Lundgren v. Kieren*, 64 Wn.2d 672, 677, 393 P.2d 625 (1964) (the court pierces the formal allegations pleaded).

Each party must furnish the factual evidence upon which he or she relies. *Lundgren*, 64 Wn.2d at 677; *see also* CR 56(e). The non-moving party may not rest upon her mere allegations. *Young v. Key Phams., Inc.*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P.2d 182 (1989); *Reed*, 65 Wn.2d at 707. Otherwise, "the whole purpose of summary judgment procedure would be defeated if a case could be forced to trial by a mere assertion that an issue exists without any showing of evidence." *Reed*, 65 Wn.2d at 707.

As this Court has stated, "A fact is an event, an occurrence, or something that exists in reality." *Grimwood v. Univ. of Puget Sound, Inc.*, 110 Wn.2d 355, 359, 753 P.2d 517 (1988) (citing Webster's Third New International Dictionary 813 (1976)). "It is what took place, an act, an incident, a reality as

distinguished from supposition or opinion." Grimwood, 110 Wn.2d at 359 (citing 35 C.J.C. Fact 489 (1960)) (emphasis added). Ultimate facts and conclusory statements of fact are insufficient and will not suffice. Grimwood, 110 Wn.2d at 359-60; see also Seven Gables Corp. v. MGM/UA Entertainment Co., 106 Wn.2d 1, 13, 721 P.2d 1 (1986) ("A nonmoving party in a summary judgment may not rely on speculation, argumentative assertions that unresolved factual issues remain, or in having its affidavits considered at face value.").

In short, "[t]he object of a motion for summary judgment is to separate the wheat from the chaff in evidentiary pleadings," *Almy v. Kvamme*, 63 Wn.2d 326, 329, 387 P.2d 372 (1963), just as the Court of Appeals—like the trial court before it—correctly did in accordance with the decisions of this Court.

B. Levno Failed to Bring Forth Any Admissible Evidence to Make a Prima Facie Case that Addus Discharged Her in Violation of Chapter 74.34 RCW

Here, contrary to what Levno implies, (Petition for Review at 11), the only adverse employment action she pleaded in her Amended Complaint was *actual* discharge. CP at 12-13 (¶¶ 2.24, 2.25, 2.26, 3.8, 3.10).³ While she could have chosen to plead other adverse employment actions, she did not. Instead, in her Amended Complaint, Levno alleged that she was "terminated in retaliation" for her reporting abuse of her client in violation of chapter 74.34 RCW. CP at 12, 13 (¶¶ 2.25, 3.8, 3.10).

³ Levno only raised a claim of constructive discharge for the first time in her motion for reconsideration, and the trial court properly refused to consider it. CP at 417. The Court of Appeals affirmed, ruling that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to consider the argument. CP at 417. Levno does not seek review of this issue. (Petition for Review at 3).

Once Addus demonstrated that it had not terminated Levno, and that no material issues of fact existed about this essential element, (CP at 35-36), the burden shifted to Levno to show otherwise. *Young*, 112 Wn.2d at 225. But Levno failed to respond to the summary judgment motion "with some showing that related evidence was available that would justify a trial on the issue." *Reed*, 65 Wn.2d at 707. And the lower courts correctly ruled that no reasonable factfinder could conclude that Addus illegally terminated Levno.

Importantly, Levno admitted in her deposition that she never received any sort of written termination notice from Addus. CP at 82 (25), 83 (1-2). The September 8, 2016 warning letter to Levno makes no reference to termination. CP at 47, 84 (4-25), 85 (1-25), 86 (1-9). Levno admitted that the September 8, 2016 warning letter contained no reference anywhere to termination. CP at 84 (1-9). And Levno could not identify any document purporting to terminate her employment. CP at 84 (4-25), 85 (1-25), 86 (1-9). As the Court of Appeals noted, "[T]he parties now agree that none of the paperwork generated by Addus at the time of the September 8 meeting specified termination." *Levno v. Addus Healthcare, Inc.*, No. 36735-5-III (June 2, 2020) at 7.

To the extent Levno now relies on a single, uncorroborated hearsay statement allegedly made by Taylor—and recounted solely by Levno in her deposition testimony—to argue that the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's summary judgment order, (Petition for Review at 12), this argument must fail. Levno cannot successfully oppose the summary judgment motion by nakedly asserting that unresolved questions of fact remain about whether her employment was orally terminated; such bare allegations are insufficient to carry

Levno to trial. *See Reed*, 65 Wn.2d at 706-07; *see also Seven Gables Corp.*, 106 Wn.2d at 13 (a nonmoving party may not rely on argumentative assertions that unresolved factual issues remain). After all, it is incumbent upon Levno to furnish the factual evidence upon which she relies. *Lundgren*, 64 Wn.2d at 777; *see also* CR 56(e).

If a factual basis for Levno's allegation existed, then she could have—and would have—developed it during discovery. But in opposing the summary judgment motion, Levno:

- Did not furnish any factual evidence from any interrogatories propounded to Addus;
- Did not furnish any factual evidence from any requests for production propounded to Addus;
- Did not furnish any factual evidence from any requests for admission propounded to Addus; and
- Did not furnish any deposition testimony from Taylor, let alone any witnesses.

CP at 287-91, 293-94, 296-98, 383-89, 402-06. Furthermore, Levno made no showing that any additional evidence would be introduced by her in the event that she would be afforded a trial. *See, e.g., Plaisted v. Tangen*, 72 Wn.2d 259, 263, 432 P.2d 647 (1967) (summary judgment was affirmed where there was no showing that additional evidence would be introduced by the plaintiff in the event he would be afforded a trial and where plaintiff rested upon his mere allegations).

Rather, as the Court of Appeals noted, Levno opposed the summary judgment motion with her unsupported, subjective belief and opinion about what

happened to her. *Levno*, No. 36735-5-III (June 2, 2020) at 9. But, as this Court has stated, supposition and opinion are not "facts" that will defeat a summary judgment motion. *Grimwood*, 110 Wn.2d at 359. Levno also opposed the summary judgment with her supposition and unreasonable inferences that Addus referred to her termination in: (1) the September 2, 2016 letter to L.J.D. and L.J.D.'s husband and (2) the September 8, 2016 warning letter to her. *Levno*, No. 36735-5-III (June 2, 2020) at 8-9. But Levno has supplied no evidence corroborating her opinion that Addus terminated her employment. CP at 84 (4-25), 85 (1-25), 86 (1-9). Feigned issues will not preclude summary judgment. 4 KARL B. TEGLAND, WASHINGTON PRACTICE: RULES PRACTICE, CR 56 § 18, at 414 (6th ed. 2012). And as this Court has stated, ultimate facts, conclusory statements of facts, and argumentative assertions that unresolved factual issues remain are insufficient and will not suffice to defeat a summary judgment motion. *Grimwood*, 110 Wn.2d at 359-60; *Seven Gables Corp.*, 106 Wn.2d at 13.

Contrary to what Levno argues, (Petition for Review at 13-14), the Court of Appeals did not weigh credibility in deciding the summary judgment motion. Instead, consistently with this Court's pronouncements about the purpose of the summary judgment rule, the Court of Appeals—like the trial court before it—pierced Levno's allegations and "separate[d] the wheat from the chaff." *See Almy*, 63 Wn.2d at 329; *see also Reed*, 65 Wn.2d at 707; *Lundgren*, 64 Wn.2d at 677. While Addus furnished the courts with the factual evidence upon which it relied ("the wheat"), Levno furnished the courts with her subjective beliefs, opinions, supposition, unreasonable inferences, ultimate facts, conclusory statements of fact, and argumentative assertions upon which she relied ("the chaff").

Thus, the Court of Appeals correctly determined that Levno failed to set forth specific facts showing a genuine issue of material fact for trial. *Levno*, No. 36735-5-III (June 2, 2020) at 7-9. As such, Levno failed to meet her burden in opposing the summary judgment motion. *See Young*, 112 Wn.2d at 225 ("If, at this point, the plaintiff 'fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party's case, and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial,' then the trial court should grant the motion.") (citation omitted); *Reed*, 65 Wn.2d at 707 (if a nonmoving party does not set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial, then summary judgment, if appropriate, shall be entered against it); *Lundgren*, 64 Wn.2d at 677 ("if no genuine issue of material fact is presented when the motion for summary judgment is heard, the issue may be summarily resolved"); *see also* CR 56(e).

Furthermore, to the extent that Levno relies on chapter 74.34 RCW and chapter 49.60 RCW (the Washington Law Against Discrimination) to somehow argue that the Court of Appeals should have applied a liberal standard in deciding the summary judgment motion, (Petition for Review at 11, 12-13), this argument must fail. The liberal construction of a statute does not mean that a court may read into a statute—or a court rule,⁴ in this instance—language that is not there. *See Klossner v. San Juan County*, 93 Wn.2d 42, 47, 605 P.2d 330 (1980) ("this court's several decisions that the wrongful death statute is to be liberally construed do not mean we may read into the statute matters which are not there"); *King County v.*

⁴ "[C]ourt rules are subject to the same principles of construction as are statutes." *In re Disciplinary Proceeding Against McGlothlen*, 99 Wn.2d 515, 522, 663 P.2d 1330 (1983).

City of Seattle, 70 Wn.2d 968, 991, 425 P.2d 887 (1967); Lowry v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 21 Wn.2d 538, 542, 151 P.2d 822 (1944) ("We are not unmindful of the rule that the workmen's compensation act shall be liberally construed in favor of its beneficiaries, but, where the language of the act is not ambiguous and exhibits a clear and reasonable meaning, there is no room for construction.").

In fact, this Court has cautioned, "[T]he WLAD's liberal construction clause is not without limitation." *Pham v. Seattle City Light*, 159 Wn.2d 527, 537, 151 P.3d 976 (2007); *see also Dailey v. N. Coast Life Ins. Co.*, 129 Wn.2d 572, 575, 919 P.2d 589 (1996) (concluding that the WLAD's reference to any other remedy authorized by the federal civil rights act did not extend to punitive damages); *Allison v. Hous. Auth.*, 118 Wn.2d 79, 85-86, 95, 821 P.2d 34 (1991) (acknowledging the WLAD's requirement of liberal construction but adopting an intermediate "substantial factor" standard of proof, rather than the more plaintiff-friendly "to any degree" standard). Moreover, if this Court were to adopt Levno's arguments, it would amount to a sweeping change to CR 56, one which this Court should decline to impose absent compliance with the rulemaking procedure in GR 9.

Here, Levno completely failed to prove an essential element of her case—namely, that Addus terminated her—and any other disputed facts raised by Levno are therefore immaterial. *See Young*, 112 Wn.2d at 225 ("In such a situation, there can be 'no genuine issue as to any material fact,' since a complete failure of proof concerning an essential element of the nonmoving party's case necessarily renders all other facts immaterial.") (quoting *Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317, 322-23, 91 L. Ed. 2d 265, 106 S. Ct. 2548 (1986)); *see also Howell v. Spokane & Inland*

Empire Blood Bank, 117 Wn.2d 619, 818 P.2d 1056 (1991) ("A party may not preclude summary judgment by merely raising argument and inference on collateral matters."). Therefore, absent a presentation of factual evidence on a material issue by Levno, the Court of Appeals—like the trial court before it—would have erred in allowing this case to go to trial. See, e.g., Wash. Osteopathic Med. Assn. v. King

County Med. Serv. Corp., 78 Wn.2d 577, 582, 478 P.2d 228 (1970).

IV. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed summary judgment. That decision is consistent with this Court's decisions, and no basis exists for this Court to grant review. Therefore, Addus respectfully requests that this Court deny Levno's Petition for Review.